
Fig . 1. Port Union from the north shore of the Catalina Harbour. The fish plant on the far right, 
the retail store right next to it, and the church were among the buildings rebuilt in 1946, after 
the fire. Those in the centre are also from 1946, while those on the left are largely from 1916-
25, the original period of construction of the town. 
(Rhona Goodspeed, Historical Services Branch, 1998) 

L'arrondissement de Port Union a ete reconnu d' importance historique 
nationale en 1998. Le prod~s-verbal de Ia Commission des lieux et mo­
numents historiques du Canada se lit ainsi : 
"Port Union is a district of national historic significance because it is an 
outstanding example of a significant social phenomenon, that of the es­
tablishment of a union town noted for its commercial success in the face 
of aggressive competition from commercial merchants in Newfound­
land. The community serves as both a symbol and an expression of the 
Fishermen's Protective Union and its success in severing, for a time, a 
centuries-old dependence on Newfoundland merchants. 
The town of Port Union is the expression of union president William 
Coaker's vision backed financially and politically by union members, 
most of whom were fishermen . The union origins of Port Union are em­
bodied in the site, including the hydro facility, setting, vernacular archi­
tecture and plan, which together convey a strong sense of place and 
history, still readily identifiable with a minimum of intrusive elements." 

Rhona Goodspeed has been an architectural historian with Parks Canada since 
1990. During this time she has worked on a range of subjects, i11cluding mili­
tary complexes (s uch as the Quebec and Halifax citadels), historic districts, 
wlturallandscapes, churches, houses and other building types. She also has a 
particular expertise on the eccles iastical decorative art and designs of Italian­
born artist Guido Nincheri. 
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Rhona Goodspeed 

Port Union Historic District 
Port Union, Newfoundland 

Port Union is a small town on the south of the Bonavista 
peninsula beside the Catalina Harbour (figs. 1-3). Dominat­

ed by large imposing commercial buildings on the harbour to the 
west, historic Port Union rises from the water up the hillside of a 
rocky terrain. The buildings are mainly clustered along the water 
and to the southwest of the town in places where the land al­
lowed for construction. From the top of the hill, to the northwest, 
one has a clear view of the harbour, which stretches out to the 
sea, and its populated meandering coastline, including a part of 
the larger town of Catalina, to the north . To the east is forest, 
while to the southwest, facing away from the harbour, fields, 
trees, and small buildings characterize the landscape. About a 
mile to the west of that historic section of Port Union, dams and 
a hydroelectric station, also within the municipal boundaries of 
the town, were built inland near the Catalina River to provide 
power to the plant that served old Port Union and adjacent areas 
(fig. 3). 

The proposed historic district includes the section of Port 
Union located along the Catalina Harbour arranged more or less 
around a triangle of streets (fig. 4) and, about one mile away, the 
hydroelectric station on the Catalina River and its associated 
canal and dams (fig. 5). The number of buildings within the pro­
posed historic area amounts to between 35 and 40. 

Port Union was created in 1916 by the Fishermen's Protec­
tive Union (FPU), made up of its president William Coaker and 
members, most of whom were fishermen from the northeast of 
the Newfoundland coast, working together to achieve common 
goals leading to an improved way of life. Designed to house the 
union headquarters, Port Union was an expression of the com­
bined effort of Coaker and the fishermen to achieve commercial 
independence from the St John's merchants and to attain a bet­
ter quality of life. From 1916 to 1925 the town- including com­
mercial buildings and living accommodations-was built and 
very quickly became a thriving commercial and industrial cen­
tre, whose facilities were comparable only to St. John's within 
Newfoundland. It has continued as a prosperous commercial 
centre for most of its history. One setback was a fire in 1945, 
which destroyed a number of buildings, nearly all of which were 
immediately replaced with similar ones on the same sites. A sec­
ond fire in 1960 burned the Union Hall, an important structure in 
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Fig. 3. Aerial view with larger arrows indicating the proposed historic district along the harbour. 
"A,"and near the Catalina River "B."" The "B'' arrow points directly to the location of the power 
station. The dams are indicated by the smaller arrows. 
(Energy Mines and Resources. Air Photo Library, 1951) 

the town historically, but one that was never rebuilt, as only rem­
nants of the union organization remained by that time.' As are­
sult of the closure of the cod fishery in 1992, many inhabitants 
have moved away; leaving a large number of buildings vacant. 
The town is now in a period of transition, as it actively seeks, 
through the Coaker Foundation, to becom e a notable centre for 
tourism.' Two museums, which draw a number of tourists to the 
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Fig 2. Map with arrow indicating location of Port Union. 
(McDonald, lan D.H. , 1987. in J !<. . Hil!er (Ed J, "To Each His Own . ..,. W11!iam Coaker afld the Fishermen 's Protec· 
tive Union in Ne'r'doundland Poiitics_ 1908·1925, St . John's, Memona! Univers!ty o! Newfoundland, p. 146; 

town, are already open in historic Port Union during the summer 
months. Should the fishery reopen, many of the town's buildings 
would probably resume functions similar to those which they 
originally had. 

Today historic Port Union, including most of the land and 
nearly all the buildings, is largely owned by the Union Trading 
Comp any, once a thriving commercial venture, but now a rea.! es­
tate holding company controlled by the executors of the Aaron 
and Ella Bailey Trust, which is responsible for the original Coak­
er estate-' The "Bungalow" (Coaker's former residence), the Port 
Union Museum (the former train station), and the Coaker Mon­
ument (his gravesite) are operated by the Port Union Museum 
Associa tion, partly funded by the trust. Newfoundland Light 
and Power owns the hydroelectric plant, while the water system 
above it is located on Crown land.' The Sir William F. Coaker 
Found ation is hoping to be able to pmchase a number of Port 
Union's historic buildings, as part of an overall plan for tourism 
for the town. William Coaker, who was recommended for na­
tional designation by the Historic Sites and Monuments Board of 
Canada in 1985, is commemorated by a plaque located next to his 
former residence in Port Union. The plaque text reads: 

William Coaker founded the Fishermen's Protective Union in 1908 

to unite the fishermen, sealers and loggers of rural Newfoundland 

in order to achieve the goal of the union's motto: "To Each His 

Own." Under Coaker the unjon established trading stores, a news­

paper and a political party which fought for social and economic re­

forms. Port Union, the FPU headquarters, w as founded in 1916. A 

member of several governments from 1917, Coaker was a potent 

force in Newfoundland political life until the mid 1920s. His cru­

sade to remake rural Newfoundland had substantial success and 

his union survived un til1960' 

Thi s paper addresses Port Union in rela tion to the cri teria 
for historic districts. The first section, concerning historica l asso­
cia tions, focuses on the social significance of the phenomenon of 
the establishment of a union town by describing the circum­
stances that led to its establishment, its early history, and a de­
scription of the buildings originally constructed there. That 
section concludes with a brief description of its subsequent fate. 
The integrity of the town is then demonstrated by a brief com­
ment on its plan, followed by a description of the extant re­
sources, including industrial, commercial, domestic, and 
community facilities. The boundaries of the proposed h istoric 
district a re then set out, follovved by a brief comparison of fea­
tures within and outside of the di strict. Following this is an 
analysis of the architecture in terms of design and materials and 



Fig. 4. The section of the proposed historic district aiong U1e harbour. 
(Department of Natural Resources , Air Photo and Mao Library, "Newfoundland & 

Labrador-Forest Resources and Lands. Topographic series," 2C6-496, 1985. deiaii. 

with number~. added) 

then a summary of the visual focal points in the 
town, which create a sense of time and place. 
The last section deals with comparative exam­
ples. 

Historical Associations 

The Fishermen's Protective Union, headed by 
president William Coaker and with a member­
ship very largely of fishermen, worked for the 
creation of Port Union to enable its members to 
achieve a significantly impr01red quality of life. 
Port Union was the union headquarters and the 
location of the union companies, founded by 
Coaker with the union's approval, to give the 
fishermen commercial independence from the 
St. John's fish merchants.• Port Union, as well as 
embodying those commercial values, was also 
developed with the overall welfare of the inhab­
itants in mind and designed to meet their finan­
cial, physical, spiritual, and educational needs. 
Port Union is a unique example in Canada of a 
town founded by a union.7 According to histori­
an Melvin Baker, "The success of the building of 
Port Union is a memorial to the determination of 
Coaker and his supporters and represents a 
unique development not only in Newfoundland 
history, but also in the social and commercial his­
tory of 20"' century Canada."' 

At the end of the 19th century, most of the 
commerce of Newfoundland was channelled 
through St. John's where the majority of the 
powerful merchants were located. The fisher­
men were bound to the fish merchants bv a cred­
it system that either kept them constantly in debt 
or prevented them from building up any capital. 

CIITIIL!NII 

Port Unjon Building List 
Proposed Historic District 

1 Salt Store 
._ _ 2 Fish Store 

\ 3 Retail Store 
4 Union Electric Building 

0 5 Factory 
~ 6 Garage 

- 7 Post Office 
\~ 

1 
8 Museum Building 

) 9 Train Station 

4
; 10 Site of Shipbuilding yard 

- ·;.; 11 Original site of train station 
:'l-" 12 Holy Martyrs Church 

13 Hotel 
I 14 House~ post 1945 

~ .. 15 The "Bungalow" 
'~-] 16 Caretaker's House 

,.J 17-22 Coaker houses 
23 Manager's house 
24~25 Houses 
26-36 Coaker houses 
37 Coaker Monument 
38 Former site ,of Congress Hall 

Fig. 5. A section of the proposed historic district including the hydro plant and a portion, including one of the two dams, 
of U1e system used for diverting the water towards the penstock and the plant. 
(Department of Natura! Resources. Air Photo and Map Ubrary, "Newfoundland & Labrador-Forest Resources and Lands. Topographic series.~ 

2C6496, 1985, detail) 

The merchants were free to adjust the price they paid the fisher­
men for fish at will, for no apparent reason. The FPU wanted to 
create a situation in which the fishermen were free of the mer­
chants and the credit system. Coaker argued that clergymen, 
clerks, lawyers, and merchants received "their own" from socie­
ty and often more, all at the expense of the fishermen, while the 
fishermen were unprotected losers. "To each his own," w as the 
union motto. vVith the cash system, fishermen would save on 
supplies and be able to accumulate capital, which would bring 
them a sense of independence and enable them to act in concert 
to hold back fish for a fair price! 

The felt need for such an organization was clearly demon­
strated by the union's very rapid growth. While the first local 
council of the FPU in 1908 had a membership of 19, by 1914, it 
had grown to 21,060, comprising just over half the fishermen of 
Newfoundland, organized into 206 councils. Coaker's first two 
steps in promoting the fishermen's interests were the founding, 
with the union's approval, of a union newspaper and the estab­
lishment of stores where fishermen could purchase merchandise 
for cash. The newspaper, the Fishermen's Advocate, later the J'v1ail 
and Advocate, was a key to the early success of the union, as it en­
abled Coaker to communicate with the country's fishermen, 
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providing them with information on the affairs of the country 
and creating a vital link among them. '" The Advocate greatly con­
tributed to the consolidation of the FPU and was in its heyday 
one of the most influential and controversial of the country's 
newspapers. First issued in 1910 in St. John's, from 1911 the 
paper was produced by the Union Publishing Company, the first 
of five union companies founded by Coaker, with the union's ap­
proval, which were to have premises in Port Union. n As for the 
cash stores, four were in operation in the outports by 1911. 

When local merchants responded by increasing profit margins 
on goods unavailable to the union, Coaker decided, in the same 
yea1~ to incorporate the second union company, the Union Trad­
ing Company (UTC), to supply the outport stores, whose head­
quarters were then in St. John's. Cash stores were set up for local 
branches of the union, which had over 200 members who were 
willing to purchase a definite number of shares in the UTC. Now 
independent of the St. John's wholesalers, the union was also 
able to sell a w ider variety of goods, to deal directly with manu­
facturers on a wholesale basis, and to expand its trading and 
credit facilities through the raising of share capital. The UTC also 
began to compete in St. John's in the buy ing and selling of fish. 

Industrial and Commercial Facilities 

In 1912, Coaker began considering the transfer of the UTC to 
a location outside St. John's with lower overheads.u Coaker's 
plans for the formation of another union company to export fish 
and fishery products directly, so the fishermen could bypass the 
merchants for their sales, was approved by the annual FPU con­
vention of 1914. With the founding of the Union Export Compa­
ny, Coaker began to search for premises where h e would be free 
to expand, as the merchants would not allow him to do so in St. 
John's. Two more union companies were incorporated in 1916: 

the Union Shipbuilding Company, to make ships for use by the 
Export Company, and the Union Elech·ic Light and Power Com­
pany. to provide electricity to the town. 

With the establishment of the Union Export Company to 
function as an exporter of fishery products, Coaker began to 
search for premises suitable for the handling. packing, and ship­
ping of fish. He purchased a section of unoccupied land border­
ing the Catalina Harbour, then located within the town of 
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Fig . 6. Rear of the fish plant and the rock forrnalion behind it. 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed, HSB_ 1998) 

Fig. 7. Hydroelectric power station, with the Catalina River on the left and the flume on the 
right. The road to the immediate right of the flume, becoming a footpath tu11her up, ieads to the 
dams and reservoir higher up. 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed, HSB, 1998) 

Catalina, to be the location of Port Union, so-named during the 
FPU annual convention of 1917. Although the site was on a steep 
hill and marked by huge outcroppings of rock, it met the re­
quirements of having a harbour that was ice-free year-round, 
and proximity to both a river, which could be harnessed for hy­
droelectric power, and to the Bonavista branch of the New­
foundland Railway. The harbour was able to accommodate 
steamers of up to 4,000 or 5,000 tons, and up to as many as a hun­
dred vessels or more at one time at anchorage.1

' · Another key con­
sideration was that most FPU members lived in the outports 
along the northeast coast; the location of the town in their midst 
would strengthen the union politically. 

Port Union was initially built from 1916 to 1925.15 Among the 
first buildings to be constructed were the two largest-the prem­
ises of the Union Trading Company and of the Union Export 
Company, located right on the harbour. Those were largely fi­
nanced by union members who purchased sh ares in the union 
companies." For the Export Company, a fish store and a salt store 
building were constructed, to treat and store fish purchased di­
rectly from the fishermen before its export to Europe and else­
where. On the top floor of the salt store was a cooperage, while 
the roof of both the fish and salt stores, as well as a huge rock be­
hind it, were used for flakes to dry the fish (fig. 6). 17 Electric dri­
ers, blowers, fans, and heaters were also used for fi sh processing, 
equipment which contributed to the development of new meth­
ods for curing fi sh. Right next to the fish store, the dry goods de­
partment store for the UTC 1vas constructed, which w as the 
headquarters and supply centre for the entire network of outport 
company s tores. The building housed seven di stinct depart­
ments including retail grocery, dry goods, and hardware depart­
ments, as well as offices.1

' Among the facilities in the store were 
a seal oil plant, a machine shop, a forge, garages, stables, coal 
sheds, a cold-storage plant, and a boiler house. 19 Also within the 
building was rental space for both the Export and Union Electric 



Fig. 9. Upper Dam 
{Photo: R. Goodspeed, HSB, 1998} 

Light and Power companies. From 
the north side of those buildings, 
three wharves extended into the 
harbour for the loading and unload­
ing of cargo. The Union Export 
Company did not begin operations 
until 1917, when it moved into its 
new premises. By the same year, the 
UTC had become the headquarters 
for a total of 40 outport cash stores. 

The Union Shipbuilding Com­
pany premises, built in 1917"" (the 
site is now vacant}, were located 
some distance and across the shore 
from t he fish plant. The company 
was founded to build schooners to 
carry fish overseas, for export by the 
Union Export Company. The cons­
truction of schooners was a revival 
of an industry in Newfoundland, 
which had been phased out with the 
introduction of steamboats. That 
had resulted in a loss of 1'\o-inter em-

Fig. 8. Lower Dam 
(Ptioto: R. Goodspeed, HSB , 1998) 

Fig. I 0. Section of canal. 
(PMto: R Goodspeed. HSB, 1998) 

ployment for shipbuilders and fishermen, who had formerly cut 
wood for their manufacture. Coaker decided to rev ive the indus-
try. The company premises included a mill with electrical machi­
nery for sawing and planing, a workshop, a machine shop and 
forge, as weli as a dockyard large enough to construct three ves­
sels at a time. During its heyday, from 1918 to the rnid-1930s, the 
Union Shipbuilding Company built 40 vessels for the UTC:, 
some as large as 400 tons and worth $115,000 each," until the bu­
siness began to decline with the approach of World War II. 

The fifth union company, Union Electric Light and Powet~ 
was established to provide electricity to Port Union, for electrical 
equipment and light. The hydroelectric plant, built in 1916-1918, 

Fig. 11. Detail of flume with power station in the distance below. 
(Photo: R Goodspeed, HSB. 1998) 

was located inland beside the Catalina River and about one mile 
west of the other union company buildings along the harbour 
(figs. 3 and 7). Two dams were constructed to harness water 
from the river and divert it from Diamonds Long and Gull ponds 
to create a reservoir (figs 8-9). A canal 1,000 feet long was cons­
tructed, largely through solid rock, to convey the water from the 
reservoir to the top of the hill overlooking the powerhouse (figs . 
10-11). There the water entered the penstock or flume, a large 
wooden pipe, which conveyed it to the powerhouse23 In 1918, 
the Electric Company began providing electricity for the shi­
pyard, the fish store, and the department store, and for houses in 
both Port Union and Catalina. That represented the earliest 

73 



JSSAC I JSEAC 28. n" 3. 4 (2003! 

\ \ 
\ \ 

attempt to bring electricity to the outports in Newfoundland and 
the first such attempt during the period before Confederation. In 
1920, the company installed a second 400 horsepow er generator 
at the Port Union station to provide electricity for the nearby 
communities of Elliston and Bona vista. 

Port Union also had a railway, though it did not belong to a 
union company. For land transportation, a spm railway to Port 
Union from the Bonavista Branch Line at the Catalina station 
w as built in 1916 (fig. 12). The spur ran along the east side of the 
town behind the shipbuilding plant, out onto a pier extending 
350 feet from the eastern shore. Another set of tracks joined that 
section of the shore to the waterfront in the front of the UTC and 
the fish p lant and salt store, to facilitate the transportation of 
goods. Hundreds of thousands of quintals (a unit for weighing 
fish, equalling 112 pounds) of salt codfish passed through the 
station from Bona vista and Elliston for shipment to salt fish mar­
kets around the world in the first half of the century. Trains also 
bought general provisions to the station for loading on boats and 
distributing to people living along the coast. The train station, 
built in 1917, and freight sheds as well as a fresh water supply for 
steamers were located on the east shore (figs. 13)." 

Once the town had become well established, the Union Pu­
blishing Company moved the production of the union newspa­
per, the Ma il and Advocate, from St. John' s to Port Union. From 
1923, it occupied a portion of a large woodworking factory buil­
ding, constructed in the same year (fig. 14). 
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Fig . 12. Detail of early plan of 
Port Union, with two arrows in­
dicating the location of the pro­
posed historic district. The two 
small arrows on the far left indi­
cate the original location of the 
school (above) and the train 
station (below). Also visible are 
the spur (U-shaped), the UTC 
Land, and the early arrange-
ment of streets. 
{Provincial Archives of Newfoundland 

and Labrador, no. 690, surveyed by 

H. J. Duder. 191 8) 

Domestic and Com­
munity Facilities 

While the union 
companies answered 
the fishermen' s need 
for commercial inde­
pendence, Coaker, 
fully committed to 
their w elfare, making 
sure that the town's 
inhabitants had their 
other needs met as 
well. To address his 
concern that there be 
adequate housing, 50 
"dw elling houses" 
were built from 1917 
to 1925/ 5 all rental 
properties, were 

nearly all duplexes (tw o "dwelling houses" per unit). They were 
located near and above the commercial buildings (figs. 15-18). In 
a few instances, Coaker sold lots to those who wished to con­
struct their own houses; always with the stipulation that if the 
house were sold, it would be returned to the UTC, thus remain­
ing in the hands of a union company and ensuring the identity 
of the union town . The houses were designed with some differ­
entiation based on income; for example, while all were provided 
with rmming w ater and electricity, those along the lower, main 
road, had plumbing as well." All exhibited desirable features 
within the context of Newfoundland outport standards, and pro­
vided concrete evidence of the concern Coaker had for his 'vork­
ers. Fully committed to independence, the union had its own 
woodworking factory built along the shore in 1923 to make 
doors and sashes for the houses (the same building which si­
multaneously housed the publication of the M ail and A dvocate; 

fig. 14).27 

Severa l other some\'1-·hat larger houses, single-family 
dwellings, were built for individuals with some standing in the 
town. For example, a house for the manager of the Union Trad­
ing Company was built, probably in 1916 (fig. 19),28 and one of 
similar size was built for the stationmaster, probably around 
1916-18 (fig . 5)29 The original occupant of a third house, also of 
similar size and from the initial period of the construction of the 
town (1916-1925), remains unidentified (fig. 20). 



Fig. 13. Train station, moved from its original site. now a museum. 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed, HSB, 1998) 

Fig. 14. The factory, built in 1923. 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed, HSB, 1998) 

Coaker's office and place of residence ·were located in the 
"Bungalow," built for him in 1917 with money raised by the 
vvorkers (fig. 21).30 With its somewhat more elaborate design 
than the other residences in the town and its large fenced-in 
property, it reflected the role Coaker held as president of the 
union and of the union companies, though it was nevertheless a 
modest home for an individual of his standing. It was there that 
Coaker held meetings with fishermen, skippers, and delegates to 
discuss upcoming conventions or decide on policy before union 
meetings. 31 A monumental gravesite was constructed for Coaker 
in the town after his death in 1938 and designed with his vvishes 
in mind (figs. 22-23). 

While the union companies and the houses took care of the 
worker's needs for commercial independence and accommoda­
tion, other facilities provided for their spiritual and educational 
needs. To provide for religious expression, Coaker made sure 
that churches representing three denominations were easily ac­
cessible. Catalina already had Methodist and Roman Catholic 
churches, which could easily serve Port Union residents, howev­
et~ the Anglican church building was very inconveniently locat­
ed. Coaker therefore chose an Anglican church for Port Union. 
Holy Martyrs Anglican Church, dramatically sited on a huge 

Fig. 15. View to the east of some of the 
houses along the lower, main street. The 
two in the distance originally had bay win­
dows, while the vacant lot between two 

houses was previously the site of a duplex. 
On the right is the very edge of the front of 

the Coaker property. 
(Photo: R. Goodsp~ed, HSB, 1998) 

Fig. 16. View facing east along the upper 
road, showing the duplexes. The one on the 
rigl1t was built by a private individuaL The in­
tersection of that road with the one running 
southwest may be seen next to the first set 

of duplexes, 1997. 
{Ray Troke , Heritage P!anner) 

Fig. 17. Some of the same houses as in the 

previous illustration, closer up, along the 
upper streetscape , facing east. 
(Photo: R Goodspeed, HSB, I 998) 

Fig. 18. View facing north towards Bungalow 

Hill, showing two of the three remaining 
houses on the right, or east side of the 
street. The rear of one of the duplexes along 
the upper street is visible on the left. The 
space on the right was the site of a now de­

molished house. 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed, HSB, ·!998) 

Fig. 19. House of the manager of the Union Trading Company, probably built in 1916. 
(Photo: R Goodspeed, HSB, 1998) 

outcropping of rock overlooking the harbom~ was built in 1919-
20 (see fig, 1).32 Conceived as a memorial church for 12 "Coaker 
recruits" whose lives were taken during World War I, the church 
was decorated with a series of 12 commemorative stained glass 
windows. 

Port Union also had its own school (not extant), about which 
little is known other than that early on it seems to have been lo­
cated on the east side of the railway tracks, as indicated in a plan 
of 1918 (fig. 12). A number of other facilities are known to have 
existed but their original whereabouts are unidentified. A night 
school was also organized for union members, where they 
learned navigation for overseas traveL (It is possible that it was 
held in the UTC store, which housed office space and rental 
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Fig. 20. Two houses from the early period of the construction of the town, including the sta­
tionmaster's house on the left. 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed, HSB, 1998) 

Fig. 21. The "Bungalow" today, showing the original metal fence along the front of the property 
up Bungalow Hill and the location of the HSMBC plaque. 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed, HSB, 1998) 

Fig . 22. The Coaker Monument with the bust of William Coaker in the centre distance. 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed, HSB, 1998) 
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Fig. 23. Detail of Coaker Monument. bust of Coaker and tomb, recent view looking east. 
(Photo: Ray Troke, 1997) 

Fig. 24. Former post office , now the offices of the Sir William F. Coaker Heritage Foundation. 
date of construction unknown. 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed, HSB, 1998) 

Fig. 25. Retail store on the left, fish plant on 
the right, and above Holy Martyrs Anglican 
Church, all built in 1946. 
(Photo: Ray Troke, Heritage Planner. ca. 1997) 

Fig. 26. From left to right: the hotel, the 
foundations of the temperance bar; above , 
rear of a duplex on the upper street and 
Holy Martyrs Anglican Church. 
(Photo: R Goodspeed . HSB, 1998) 

Fig. 27. Holy Martyrs Anglican Church, front 
(south) elevation. 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed, HSB. 1998) 

Fig. 28 . Former Union Electric Light and 
Power Building with its original canopy re­
moved , built in ·1 946. 
(Photo : R. Goodspeed, HSB, 1998) 



facilities for the Export and Electric Light and Power companies.) 
Coaker also had a community health nurse brought over from 
England.33 A concern for the sobriety of the workers was dis­
played by the construction of a facility for the manufacture of 
temperance drinks in the centre of the town. Coaker also had the 
Government establish several public buildings, such as a cus­
toms house and postal and telegraph offices, and make Port 
Union a regular port of call for its coastal steamer service. Little 
is known about those public buildings, though a post office of 
unknown date is extant along the harbour (fig. 24). Other facili­
ties in the town included a bakery and, for entertainment, a 
movie theatre, apparently located in Congress Hall from 1925.34 

Congress Hall, the large union hall and location for the 
FPU's annual conventions, was built in 1924-25 with funds pro­
vided by the Union, UTC employees, and friends of the FPU. 
From 1918, union conventions were held in Port Union, and from 
1925 (Coaker 's last year as president), they were held in Con­
gress Hall. Every year, over 200 delegates attended. Sited on the 
hill overlooking the harbour, the hall housed the convention cen­
tre on the upper floor, while a community hall was located on the 
ground floor. Lighted up at night "with hundreds of electric 
lights, inside and outside ... ," the building was visible from miles 
at sea and was described at the time as "a beacon of unity for the 
fishermen."35 Because of its strong associations with the union, it 
is unfortunate that when the building burned in 1960, it was 
never replaced. A hotel was also constructed in Port Union, in 
about 1916, to provide accommodation to visitors and delegates 
who attended the annual FPU conventions, for UTC managers 
from the outports who came to arrange for supplies for outport 
stores or provide reports, and for fish traders from around the 
world. 

Port Union's Heyday (1918-1925) 

According to Coaker, no other town in Newfoundland had 
equivalent facilities at the time of construction.36 By 1919, there 
were about 400 persons in the Port Union-Catalina area em­
ployed by the union operations in Port Union. By 1921, Port 
Union had a population of 532, which included residents who 
had originally lived in the Port Union section of Catalina, or who 
had moved there from Catalina and other parts of Newfound­
land.37 In 1922, total investment in the Trading Company and af­
filiated concerns by members of the union, non-members, and 
others amounted to one million dollars.38 It was calculated that in 
the late 1920s, the UTC was carrying over 5,000 fishing accounts, 
covering some 1,000 fishermen and sponsoring a five-vessel seal­
ing fleet. 39 Those early years were Port Union's heyday when it 

was a thriving community and the union was at its most influ­
ential. The construction of the town from 1916 to 1925 represent­
ed, in historian John Feltham's words, "the high watermark of 
Union accomplishment."'" By the time of Coaker's retirement 
from the presidency in 1926, the Fishermen's Protective Union 
was however markedly in decline." 

Subsequent History 

The town nevertheless continued as a busy commercial and 
industrial centre for many more decades. The large fire in 1945 in 
the northwest section of the town did not halt business for long. 
Although a number of buildings were destroyed, including the 
fish plant, the retail store, the church, the hotel, and at least one 
duplex, all but the duplex were immediately replaced with sim­
ilar buildings on the same sites, and businesses resumed func­
tioning in the new buildings the following year (figs. 25-26).42 

The church was replaced with a new building in the same style 
and new stained glass windows commissioned from the original 
company, commemorated the same recruits (fig. 27). Union 
Electric Light and Power, prior to the fire, had rented facilities 
within the UTC retail store; afterwards, in 1946, it had a new 
building constructed nearby (fig. 28). 

By the mid-1950s, the Trading Company was reputedly one 
of the east coast's largest exporters of dried cod, which was by 
then a dying trade. Union Light and Power expanded in the 
1950s with the purchase of Clarenville Light and Power, to bring 
electricity to the whole of the Bonavista peninsula. In 1966, the 
company amalgamated with four other electric utilities to form 
Newfoundland Light & Power Co. Limited. The shipbuilding in­
dustry, which went into decline in the late 1930s, was revived at 
the same site from the mid-1960s to the mid-1980s. The UTC re­
tail store continued to serve the entire region until it was forced 
into receivership in 1977.43 By 1979, the fish plant was occupied 
by Canada's Salt Fish Corporation.44 During those years, Port 
Union, though its population always remained small," contin­
ued as a busy fishing centre and maintained a higher level of em­
ployment than other towns in Newfoundland.<' Not until 1980 
did the Advocate cease production,'' after having enjoyed a 70-
year history. 

Despite ups and downs, Port Union continued to survive 
until the closure of the fishery in 1992, which had a devastating 
effect on the town, as it had throughout the outports. As a result, 
many people have left Port Union in search of employment. That 
led to the vacating of about two-thirds of the buildings in old 
Port Union, particularly the commercial and industrial struc­
tures, though some of the houses are still occupied. In an attempt 
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Fig. 30. Retail store from the southeast. 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed, HSB, 1998) 

to create a source of revenue for the town and to bring alive Port 
Union's remarkable past, the former train station has been trans­
formed into a museum, as has the Coaker "Bungalow," which is 
open to the public in accordance with Coaker's wishes. The 
Coaker gravesite is open to the public as well. The Sir William F. 
Coaker Foundation is also actively seeking ways to promote 
tourism in Port Union. It is hoped that those measures succeed in 
drawing numerous tourists to the area, and help to bring to life 
the great sense of history that is a part of Port Union. 

The Integrity of the Proposed 
Historic District of Port Union 

Plan 

The proposed historic district of Port Union is made up of 
two distinct areas: the area beside the harbour and the hydro­
electric plant along the Catalina River and its associated canal 
and dams. Within the area beside the harbour, the original V­
Shaped layout of the streets was dictated by the shoreline and 
the rocky terrain (fig. 12). The road by the harbom~ there before 
the town was built, intersected with the original spur. Today the 
streets of old Port Union are joined in a triangle, made up the 
original "V," and a third road, called Reid Road, which follows 
the line of the old spur and joins the other two sides of the trian-
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Fig. 29. Fish plant from the wharf. 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed. HSB, 1998) 

gle (fig. 4). (That is the only s treet in the town to have an official 
name, after the Reid Newfoundland Company, builder of the 
railway••) As a comparison between the 1918 survey and a recent 
map illustrates, the original rudimentary plan with its compo­
nent parts remains clearly visible today (compare figs. 4 and 12). 

Extant Resources 

Altogether there are between 35 and 40 buildings in old 
Port Union. Nearly all of these were built during the initial peri­
od of construction of the town, from 1916 to 1925, or immediate­
ly after the fire in 1946. Those destroyed in the 1945 fire, all in the 
northwest section of the town, were (with the exception of one 
duplex) replaced with similar buildings on the original sites hav­
ing the same functions. 

The industrial and commercial facilities-the fish plant (1946, 
fig. 29), one of whose wharves is intact;" the retail store (1946; 
fig. 30); the hydroelectric building (1946, fig. 28); and the facto­
ry (1923, fig. 14)-are right next to the water along the lower 
main street, clustered to the west. The hotel (1946, fig. 26) is 
across from the hydro building. On the same side of the street as 
the hotel are residential buildings-duplexes (1916-25, fig. 15) 
near the west and single family residences (1916-25) to the east 
near Reid Road, including the UTC manager's house (probably 
1916, figs. 19 and 31). Further along the street to the east, also on 
the waterfront, are the former post office (date unknown, fig. 24) 
and the former train station (1916, figs. 13 and 31). To the north, 
along Reid Road, is the stationmaster's house (probably ca. 1916-
18, fig. 20). 

The property of the "Bungalow" fronts on the lower main 
street across from the factory, stretches up Bungalow Hill to the 
upper street and continues some distance to the east, forming a 
large, approximately rectangulal' area (figs. 4, 21, and 32). The 
Coaker mansion, as it is sometimes called (1917), is near the top 
of the hill (fig. 21). To the west above the retail store, on the 
upper street, is the Anglican church (1946, figs. 1 and 27). To the 
west of the church at the top of Bungalow Hill are more duplex­
es (1916-25, figs. 16-17 and 33). A few more, smaller houses for 
the workers built from 1916 to 1925, are a little further south, on 
the street at right angles to the upper road (fig. 18). Further 
along the upper road to the southeast is the Coaker Monument 
(ca. 1938, figs. 22-23 and 32). 

Except for the train station (1916, fig. 13), all the extant 
buildings from the initial period of construction of the town are 
in their original locations. The station' s original site along the 
northeastern shore is marked by a curb (figs. 4 and 34). The orig­
inal buildings which have been lost include Congress Hall (1924-



Fig . 31. View of district to the east seen from shore where the shipyard and tra in station were 
once located. The rear of the station (left, now a museum), the stationmaster 's house, and the 

UTC manager's house are visible. Next to the station is a small newly constructed building 
which is part of the museum 

(Photo: R. Goodspeed, HSB, 1998) 

25), whose site at the top of the hill has remained vacant (fig. 
32);'0 the premises of the Union Shipbuilding Company, which is 
represented by two large artifacts on its original site on the 
northeastern shore (figs. 35-36)/' the salt fish store (1946), of 
which only the foundations remain (fig. 37); and the plant for 
temperance drinks (probably 1946), whose foundations are next 
to the hotel (fig. 26). Several duplexes have also been demol­
ished (figs. 15 and 18), leaving empty sites," and a certain num­
ber of small unidentified structures also appear to be lost. The 
large empty area between the lower and upper streets character­
ized by rocks and low shrubs, has always been vacant (fig. 38). 

There are very few buildings in old Port Union that were 
added during a later period. Those include two small houses on 
Bungalow Hill: one opposite the Coaker property built sometime 
after the 1945 fire (fig. 39) and another, of very recent date, on 
the Coaker property, hidden behind trees (fig. 40). Another 
house along Reid Road is of uncertain date (fig. 41). Along the 
waterfront is a garage (built in the 1950s, fig. 42), just east of the 
factory. 

The hydroelectric plant and its associated flume (1916-18, 
fig. 7) are in its original location by the Catalina River and there­
cently constructed shed stands on the site of the original one. 
Above, behind, and to the east of the plant are the original canal, 
two dams and the reservoir that power the plant (figs. 3, 5, and 
8-J 0). A path runs along the north of the canal before it crosses 
over to the south at a point below the lower dam at Diamonds 
Long Pond (figs. 5 and 7). The path follows the alignment of the 
original means of access to the site in use in Coaker's days. 
After it rises above the level of the dams, the path again follows 
the north side of the waterway until it reaches the upper dam. 
That part of Port Union appears to have remained almost un­
changed . 

Proposed Boundaries 

The boundaries of the first area are clearly legible due to 
their arrangement around the triangle of streets; they are rein­
forced by topographical features and by visual differences inside 
and outside the district (fig. 4). 

The proposed historic district on the harbour may be easily 
identified by its general arrangement of buildings around a tri­
angle of streets: the lower main road, Reid Road, and the upper 
road (fig. 4). The northern boundary is formed by the shoreline 
and includes the wharf in front of the fish plant (figs. 1, 4, and 
37). The eastern boundary is identified by Reid Road, the origi­
nal line of a section of the railway tracks (figs. 4, 12, and 43). 
Nearly all the southwestern boundary is formed by the upper 

Fig. 32. View to the west along the upper street with Holy Martyrs Anglican Church and du­
plexes in the distance. On the right , the wooden fence along the ··sungalow'· property and 
ott1er, vacant property, as well as a section of the front wall of the Coaker Monument. Con­
gress Hall (not extant) was located to the left of the monument. facing onto that street 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed, HSB, i998) 

road itself but is extended outward to include the houses on the 
opposite, southwest side of the road. The boundary continues 
along the upper road to the north where it intersects the lower 
main road (figs. 4 and 44). At that point the boundary becomes 
a small section of a dirt road continuing northwest, chosen as it 
allows for the inclusion within the proposed district of the enor­
mous rock just north of it, which was used for drying fish (figs. 
4 and 45). 

Complementary to that first area is the vacant stretch of 
shoreline just north of the proposed district, which was once the 
site of the train station and related buildings, and of the premis­
es of the Union Shipbuilding Company (figs. 4 and 35). That 
area forms an integral part of the story of Port Union, with the 
two huge artifacts and bits of scattered equipment representing 
the shipbuilding plant and the curb indicating the original loca­
tion of the station (figs. 4, 34, and 36). There, the road running 
parallel to the shoreline is a continuation of Reid Road and fol­
lows a segment of the line of original railway tracks (figs. 4, 34, 
and 43). 

The character within the first area of the proposed district is 
defined by its plan, which is seen in the siting of functionally re­
lated buildings, including the focal points of the fish plant and 
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Fig. 33. House (left) on the upper street built between 1916 and 1925by a private individual on 
land purchased from the Union Trading Company. 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed, HSB, 1998) 

Fig. 34. Curb along road, where railway once stood, facing north. The road follows the orig inal 
line of the ra ilway. 
(Photo: R_ Goodspeed, HSB. 1998) 

retail store, and particularly the duplexes (a building type rarely 
seen in the outports), which are nearly all very similar in ap­
pearance and scale. The buildings are regularly spaced, close to­
gether, near the street and aligned more or less parallel with each 
othet~ all features that reinforce the plan of the whole and speak 
to the union town (fig. 4). The entrance to the distri ct on the 
northwest is clearly marked by two huge outcroppings of rock 
(figs. 4 and 49). Outside the district on the east on the opposite 
side of Reid Road, the area is defined by forest (figs. 4), while to 
the south it is defined by the ball field and institutional buildings 
(outside the district, figs. 4 and 46), as well as the field s behind 
the houses (figs. 4 and 47). 

The proposed boundaries of the second area of the proposed 
district, where the former Union Electric h ydroelectric plant is 
located, are those of the lot on which the building, the flume or 
penstock, and the shed above it are situated (figs. 5 and 7). The 
building is set apart from its surroundings by the river, a metal 
fence and a road. Also included within that section of the district 
are the canal and the two dams, components of the water system 
which provided power to the plant and which continue to do so 
(figs. 5 and 8-10), and the alignment of the path which provided 

80 

Fig. 35. Vacant stretch of shoreline where the shipbuilding yard was located, on the right, and 
the railway station , on the left. 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed. HSB. 1998) 

Fig. 36. Detail of huge artifact from the former shipbuilding yard. 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed, HSB. 1998) 

and continues to provide access to the features of the site (fig. 5). 
The components above the powerhouse are clearly set apart 
from their environment, made up as it is of uncultivated plants, 
shrubs and forest. 

Architecture: Design and Materials 

The buildings of Port Union are mostly characterized by 
their wood frame construction, by their vernacular and function­
al appearance, and by their sense of classical scale and propor­
tions. With the exception of the two large commercial structures, 
the buildings are generally of rectilinear plan, two storeys in 
height, and covered in siding of either wood or more modern 
materials. The roofs are gabled or sloped. The source of the do­
mestic buildings is British classicism, while the tw o commercial 
buildings are functional in design. Nevertheless, both share a 
classical sense of scale and proportions. In addition, their sharing 
of compatible colour schemes (including yellow, blue and white) 
is characteristic of the outports. 

Significant features of the town are the duplexes, a rare 
building type in outport Newfoundland. Those two-storey 
buildings combine vernacular features with a pattern on the 



Fig. 37. Side elevation of fish plant with the foundations of the salt store on the left. 
Photo: R. Goodspeed, '1998) 

Fig. 38. View of area within triangle of streets, looking northwest. The union hall would have 
been locCJ!ed on the left. The rear of some of the duplexes is visible on the right. 
(Photo: R Goodspeed, HSB, 1998) 

Fig. 39 . View up Bungalow Hill, showing a corner of the hotel on the right, a small house 
which may be on the site of the original burned duplex above it, and duplexes in the distance. 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed, HSB. 1998} 

RHONA GOODSPEED l;r.1:1::itJ:tlJ.I:t~:ltJ:tl 

Fig. 40. Caretaker's house, beside the '·Bungalow," ca. 1995-96. 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed, HSB, 1998) 

Fig. 41 . View to tile northeast showing the intersection of Reid Road and the lower, main road 
in the distance. The large white house on the right may be a transformed Coaker house. 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed. HSB. 1998) 

Fig. 42. View along main street, facing west, showing the side elevation of the factory, the 
1930s garage and, on the far right, the former post office. 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed, HSB, 1998) 
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Fig. 43. View along Reid Road , the eastern boundary of the 
district. where it intersects with the lower main road. The sta­
tionmaster 's house is in the centre and the station on the far 
right. 

Fig. 45. View to the west with an arrow indicating the dirt Fig. 47 . Fields behind the houses above Bungalow Hill. The 
road. None of the buildings in the photo is within the proposed duplexes on the right are on the southwest side of the upper 
district. street. 
{Photo: R. Goodspeed. 1998) Photo: (R. Goodspeed, 1998} 

(Pholo: R. Goodspeed, 1998) 

Fig. 46 . Upper road facing east, with area outside proposed 
district on the right. 

The factory, the only extant commer­
cial building to have survived from the 
original period of the town's construction 
(fig. 14), retains its original wood siding 
and almost certainly possesses the oldest 
extant elevator shaft in Newfoundland's 
outports. The rebuilt commercial struc­
tures have largely retained the functional 
designs of the buildings that they replaced 
and are compatible with the rest of the 
buildings in the town. Both the fish plant 

{Photo: R. Goodspeed, 1998) 

(Photo: R. Goodspeed , ·!998j 

fac;ade of two entrances in the centre flanked by a window on ei­
ther side and four windows on the second level, a design ulti­
mately of British origin (figs. 49-50). They nearly all have 
entrances and small vestibules or porches at the back (fig. 47). 
Some of the houses on the lower street, originally more elabo­
rate, have been heavily altered, with the removal of such features 
as their original two-storey bay windows and the addition of 
vinyl siding (fig. 15), while those on the upper street have gen­
erally remained unchanged and retained their original wood sid­
ing (figs. 16-17). Further south, smalle1~ more modest one-storey 
buildings, similar to each other in design and detailing, also re­
tain their original wood siding (fig. 18). The most altered of all 
the buildings in the district has been transformed to a modern 
one-storey single-family dwelling (fig. 51). 

As for the Port Union duplexes, within the context of Cana­
da as a whole, their design was standard for workers' housing in 
single resource towns from about 1900 to 1920. Comparable ex­
amples, though with slight differences, may be found at Val-Jal­
bert, Quebec, built between 1904 and 1914 (fig. 52). Those were 
in turn reproductions of an American model, which the Bethle­
hem Steel Company had been building since 1895 in Sparrow's 
Point, Maryland.54 The Val-Jalbert examples differ from those in 
Port Union in details only (the doors along the fa~ade are in the 
outer rather than the inner bays, and there are more windows 
along the side elevations). Within a national context the Port 
Union examples are at best representative, reflecting a combina­
tion of vernacular design and of standard features for houses in 
single-industry towns during that era. 
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and the retail store are covered with cedar­
grained asbestos shingles, conventional 

materials during the 1940s and 1950s (figs. 29-30). 
Coaker's residence is lent some distinction by its design 

based on a vernacular interpretation of a historical revival style 
(fig. 53). Its asymmetrical design, corner tower, irregular 
roofline with dormers, and projecting porch are features of the 
Queen Anne style, while the bell -shaped roof over the tower and 
the simplified design suggest the vernacular for origins. Like 
most Queen Arme-style houses in the Atlantic Provinces, it is 
built of wood. The property is entirely surrounded by a fence, 
made up of the original metal fence, to the west, and a picket 
fence along the other sides (figs . 21 and 32).55 Though the build­
ing has been altered with additions to the east and south and 
newly clad with aluminium siding,'" it largely retains its charac­
ter. While its style sets it somewhat apart from the duplexes and 
other residences in the town, it nevertheless is similar to them in 
proportions, scale, and materials. 

The second building designed in a historical revival style is 
Holy .tvlartyrs Anglican Church, a small s tructure built in 1946 in 
an attractive Gothic Revival style similar to that of the original 
church of 1916 (fig. 27). The building lacks its original steeple,57 

and the new vinyl siding detracts somewhat from its appearance 
but does not by any means destroy its character. The building is 
compatible in scale, design, and material with its neighbours. 

The Coaker Monument, on the southeastern corner of the 
proposed district, is a gravesite remarkable for its size and its 
monumental design, especially within the context of outport 
Newfoundland (figs. 22-23). The designer is unidentified, 
though it is known that Coaker wished to be buried in Port 
Union, that he chose that site at the top of the hill and that he 



. i an arrow 1 

trance to the district betvveen the two rocks. In the foreground 
is the upper road , while the tops of the elevator shafts of the 
fish plant are visible behind the huge rock. 
(Pholo: R. Goodspeed, 1998) 

ations. 
!Photo: R. Goodspeed. 1998) 

took an interest in the monument before his death. The monu­
ment, a bronze portrait bust placed above his marble tomb se t on 
a marble platform, is Italianate in materials and design. The bust 
vvas made for Coaker in Naples before his death in 1934 and may 
have been one of a number of gifts of works of art he received 
from people he met during his travels to Europe." A low Ital­
ianate parapet once surrounded the platform but was removed 
some yearf: ago. A manicured lawn surrounds the platform, and 
a path and stairs rise from the entrance to the cemetery along the 
road, up to the monument. The whole area is set apart from the 
rest of the town by a concrete fen ce, which replaced an earlier 
similar fence some years ago enclosing an even larger space.09 

C:oaker's bust faces away from the historic town and the har­
bour, towards the northeast and the Avalon Peninsula, 'where 
most of the union members once resided. '" 

The biggest intrusion into the historic town is the garage 
built in the 1950s (fig. 42) . Whi.le compatible in scale with the 
other buildings, its corrugated metal walls detract a .little from 
the homogeneity of the proposed district. The newest addition, a 
small one-storey house for a caretaker very recently built on the 
Coaker property, is similar in design and scale to the other build­
ings and is hidden by a cluster of trees (fig. 40). 

The buildings in Port Union are largely in good condition, 
with the exception of the factory which requires stabilization and 
whose original elevator shaft has collapsed.'1 Those that are in­
habited or in use, mostly in the northeast section of the district, 
are i11 good condition and appear well maintained. Those that 
are vacant tend to be boarded up, and the fish plant and retail 
store exhibit- a few signs of neglect and vandalism, such as bro­
ken windows and missing shingles. The fish plant has recently 
been undergoing some improvement." Restoration plans have 
been developed for some of the buildings, including the factory.'' 
Apart from the factory, the buildings are structurally sound."' 

The hydroelectric powerhouse, in the second section of the 
proposed district, is a one-storey building, of similar scale and 
proportions to the others, but built of concrete with a gabled 
wood roof, ret1ective of its functional design (fig. 7).'5 At the rear, 
the flume or penstock, buiit of wooden staves, feeds water into 
the plant. The intake to the penstock has a concrete wall, and a 
gate with guides and a hoist; it is covered with a small woodshed 
of recent construction, compatible with the structure as a whole. 
Sixty-five percent of the canal was built through solid rock, while 

the remainder is 
earth and fill. In 
excell.ent condition 
and slightly en­
larged, the build­
ing is still in 
operation using a 
majority of the 
original equipment 
with the addition 
of diesel genera­
tors in 1945 and 
1961.66 

Fig. 50. A duplex from the upper street witl1 no alterations. 
(Pholo: R. Goodspeed, HSB. 1998) 

Fig. 5·1. The most altered of all the Coaker houses. 
(Photo: R. Goocispeed. HSB. 1998) 

Sense of Time and Place 

Because of its largely abandoned state, characterized by a 
marked absence of activity, a good num.ber of boarded up w in­
dows and doors, and some deterioration due to vandali sm, the 
very rich history to which Port Union speaks is somewhat 
blurred upon entry to the town. The town's present state does 
not, ho wever, ultimately conceal this history and the sense of 
time and place which is conveyed in Port Union. The town's hi s­
tory remains clearly legible in the extant buildings and spaces. 

Nature and architecture are both visually prominent in Port 
Union. The large harbour, stretching out to sea, speaks to New­
foundland and the long history of dependence of the inhabitants 
of the country and then of the province on fish for their ljveh­
hood, while the general form of the architecture is representative 
in style and materials of outport Newfoundland . Perhaps the 
most prorninent visual focal point in the town is the fish plant 
and the retail store, which speaks to the commercial success of 
the union ventures and to the independence achieved by the 
fishermen from the merchants, recalling both the international 
and national levels of business which they conducted. The train 
station, a small but prominently located building, is another il­
lustration of Port Union' s connection with fish markets around 
the world. The factory, the only extant building from the original 
period of the town' s construction to have been occupied by a 
union company, speaks to the ld a£1 and Advocate while the hy­
droelectric powerhouse and related components illustrate the 
fact that Port Union was then a .m.odern town in Newfoundland, 
the first to bring electricity to the outports. The hotel recalls Port 
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Fig. 52. Workers' houses. 
Vai-Jalbert, Quebec. Mea­
sured drawings for houses 

built behveen 1904 and 
1914. 
(Noppen, Luc. 1997 ''Vat-Jal­

bert: The Origins of a Planned 

Community", .Society for the 

Study of Architecture in Canada 

Buile/in, vol 22, March. no. 1. 

p. 9) 

Union's many vis­
itors, of interna­
tional and 
national statures. 
Another promi­
nent visual focal 
point is made up 
of the numerous 
residences, espe­
cially the duplex­
es. Their range in 
size and design, 
though limited, 
speaks to the hier­
archy within the 
union and the 
union companies .. 
and at the same 

time, they speak as a whole to the improved conditions tha t the 
fishermen were able to acquire. Another prominent landmark is 
Holy Martyrs Church, the highest building in the town, recalling 
Coaker's concern for the spiritual welfare of his men. 

As a whole, Port Union speaks to the Fishermen's Protective 
Union, \·vhich has recently been described by noted labour histo­
rian Greg Kealey as the union to have had the most impact for its 
period, not only in Newfoundland, but also in the rest of Cana­
da." Fou nded in the face of the hostility of the financial and com­
mercial interests of Newfoundland," Port Union is the visual 
expression of the break made by outport fishermen of New­
foundland's northeast coast from the control and influence of the 
St. John's Water Street merchants, severing a dependence that 
had lasted for centuries. Port Union speaks to the strength and 
power that unity had brought to the northern fishermen. Ac­
cording to historian Melvin Bakel~ Port Union w as the "symbol" 
of the "organizational, commercial and political goals ... nur­
tured" ... by the union from the time of its founding. '" 

Comparisons 

As Port Union is a unique example of a tow n founded by a 
union, there are no other truly similar examples of towns to 
which it may be compared. Hmvever, Port Union does share fea­
tures with two other categories of town: the Newfoundland out­
port and the Canadian single-industry town.'" At the same time, 
Port Union differs from the outpor t in its history and layout, and 
from the single-industry town in its funding and governance.71 
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Fig. 53. The "Bungalow," 
seen frorn the northwest. 
(Photo: R. Goodspeed, HSB, 

1998) 

One of the characteristic features of Newfoundland is the 
outport, or small fishing village, hundreds of which dot the 
Newfoundland coast. The oldest of those villages were estab­
lished centuries ago by fishermen coming from overseas who 
chose to settle in places vvhich provided suitable waters for fish­
ing. Those villages or tow ns grew spontaneously according to 
the needs of the inhabitants and were rarely, if ever, planned. The 
majority of the outports have remained small villages or towns 
though a small number were chosen by fish merchants for their 
p remises. Greenspond and nearby Catalina are examples of typ­
ical outports, while Trinity and Bonavis ta became homes to fish 
merchants. (Bonavista, just up the coast from Port Union, is the 
location of Ryan Premises National Historic Site, which is owned 
by Parks Canada and represents the traditional Nevvfoundland 
fish merchant and the system that the Fishermen's Protective 
Union was trying to change.) In contras t to those towns, Port 
Union was deliberately created, relatively recently in 1916, and 
incorporated in 1961. It possessed a rudimentary plan reflected 
in the layout of buildings, which provides a contrast to the out­
por ts, such as Catalina. Further differences between Port Union 
and the typical outport reside in the design of buildings. While 
the architecture of both the outports and Port Union is strongly 
influenced by the vernacular tradition and shares the same ma­
terials, duplexes are rare in outport Newfoundland. The large in­
dustrial and commercial buildings (fish plant and retail store) 
also set the tmvn apart from the other outports, which have no 
comparable buildings. 

The period of constructjon of Port Union as well as its gen­
eral layout and appearance bring to mind the single-industry or 
"company town" founded by a single enterprise or agency on 
which workers depended for housing, services, recreation, and 
livelihood. The general location of the buildings recalls the lay­
out of the typical single-industry town of the era. 

The history of single-industry communities begins with the 
"sleep camp," a rudimentary settlement of bunkhouses, a cook­
house, and a commissariat, w hich were all abandoned after the 
resources were exhausted. The "company town," w ith which 
Port Union shares some features, belongs to the second phase. It 
is characterized by the workers' dependency upon the company 
for housing, services, recreation and livelihood, typical of the era 
before about 1920.73 Any planning carried out for the "company 
town" was on a private level, by the company, rather than by 
professionals, with no regulation from any outside body, such as 
a government. Planning was often restr icted to little more than 
grid surveys, and the town was closely associated with the 



Fig. 55. Aerial view of ~ .... larysville. 
{Energy Mines and Resources Canada, National Air Photo Library, A27698·22 , April 1991) 

Fig. 54. Vaklalbert, Quebec, layout of buildings and cadastral lots in 1927. 
(Noppen, 1997 9) 

industrial plant. That ty pe was eventually superseded by the 
fully planned single-industry community (though it overlapped 
with the previous in time) as an initiative to attract and maintain 
a stable w orkforce due to the enormous investments required to 
exploit natural resources. Powell River Tcnvnsite, B.C., is an ex­

ample of that type . A period of "holistic" planning followed that 
phase, featuring an overall plan allowing for expansion and 
land-use segregation, while after World War II, the "comprehen­
sive" planning period promoted a more socially-oriented hu­
manistic "model city" of the Radburn type." In its overall 
appearance and design, Port Union resembles a small early sin­
gle-industry town with two of its most striking architectural fea­
tures-its very prominent industrial and commercial buildings 
and its nearby duplexes of very similar design conveying that 
they were built for the workers. Port Union also exhibits a sim­
ple plan, for which Coaker and the union were ultimately re­
sponsible. 

One of many examples to which Port Union may be com­
pared is the small town of Val-Jalbert, in the Saguenay-Lac­
Saint-Jean region of Quebec, which was begun in 1901 as an 
indus trial site for a pulp mill, and abandoned in 1927 (fig. 54). 
The construction of the town took place under the supervision of 
a succession of three company owners, with the layout and erec­
tion of the industrial buildings taking place in the first stage 
(1901-04; only a boarding house provided living quarters during 
those years) and the layout of additional streets and construction 
of the company houses in later stages by subsequent owners, all 
before 1924. \Nhile Port Union was built over a nine-year period, 
that town was constructed over 23 years in various stages. Some 
of those stages exhibit certain planning in layout; in the final 
analysis, Val-Jalbert resembles Port Union in layout, with its 

commercial and institutional district at the entrance to the town, 
an industrial district at the opposite end, near the falls, and a res­
idential district in between, whose edges blend into the industri­
al ! com1nercial area. 

Like many towns of that type, Port Union exhibits rudimen­
tary planning, was run by a single agency, and possesses similar 
building types. Within that context, howevet~ Port Union is an 
average example. In any event, Port Union is not really a "com­
pany town" but is rather a unique example of a town founded by 
a union, one that has clearly been influenced in form by the sin­
gle-industry towns of the day. 

Two single-industry towns have already received 1 :1 tional 
commemoration, both of which are exceptional examples of their 
types, representing different phases in the development of the 
single-industry town. In 1993, the Board considered that 
Marysville, New Brunswick (fig. 55), "provides a rare example 
of a single-industry company town of the 19'" century possessing 
both its plant and company housing. Further, the historic district 
contains a full range of community facilities, including indus tri­
al, commercial, and residential buildings, erected approximately 
between 1840 and 1890, and it largely retains its 19"' century ap­
pearance and character."" One excellent example of a fully 
planned 20'"-century single-industry community of that phase 
was commemorated in 1995. Powell River Townsite, B.C., was 
described by the Board as "a well-preserved and progressive ex­
ample of the earliest phase of pla1med 20'" century single-indus­
try communities in Canada, exhibiting evidence of all the 
characteristics of this planning phase: a strong focus on the mill, 
a gridiron pattern of streets, standardized house plans segregat­
ed by class, and little significant allowance for measured growth 
(fig. 56)."" 
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Conclusion 

Port Union is a unique example in Canada of a town founded by 
a union. The founding of Port Union was a daring and remark­
able venture without parallel in the country. It was Coaker's 
enormous vision which found material expression in the con­
struction of the town, an expression made possible by a good 
portion of Newfoundlan.d's fishermen who were willing to place 
their trust in him, all accomplished in the face of the resistance 
and hostility of the financial and commercial interests of the 
Newfoundland establishment of the day. Port Union is both a 
symbol and an expression of the Fishermen's Protective Union 
and of its success in severing, at least for a time for some of the 
fishermen, a dependence on merchants, which had lasted cen­
h.Iries. Among its accomplishments were the unprecedented in­
troduction of electricity to the outports, and, speaking especially 
to the largeness of the dream, is the revival, \Vith some success, 
of the shipbuilding industry. 

The town retains a high degree of integrity due to the read­
ability of its original plan and of the survival, with little change, 
of buildings that are nearly all from the original period of con­
struction of the town or of replacements for those buildings on 
the same sites having the same functions. Among the losses, only 
one is truly significant-that of the union hall. The boundaries of 
the proposed historic district are clearly readable based on their 
arrangement around the triangle of streets, and on the differ­
ences within and outside of the district, in land use and in layout 
of buildings. The architecture of the buildings is cohesive with a 
minimum of additions and intrusions and speaks, in design and 
materials, to the historical context of outport Newfoundland. Al­
though Port Union is in a stage of transition, the very rich histo­
ry to which the town speaks is still clearly legible in the natural 
features of its site and in its extant buildings, which together 
combine to give the proposed historic district a sense of time and 
place. 
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Fig. 56. Aerial view of the Powell River Townsite from the southwest, 1992 
(BrJhn , K.arl , 1992, 1< Powell River: This Feisty Mm Town Sings its Own Song )), Beautiful British Coiumbia, val 
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